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On November 17, 1998, we heard Employee's October 21, 1997 Application for Adjustment of Claim in Anchorage, Alaska.  Attorney Joseph Kalamarides represents Employee.  Attorney Allen Tesche represents Employer.  We closed the record at the end of the hearing. 


ISSUES

1.
Is Employee permanently totally disabled?


2.
How should past benefits paid to Employee be characterized?

 
3.  To what benefits is Employee entitled?


SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE 


On November 1, 1995, Employee, the station mechanic at a remote airbase, was injured when the bulldozer he was operating fell into a drainage ditch.  (November 6, 1995 Report of Injury).  Employee's hourly wage was $29.30.  (Id.).  Employer accepted the claim and paid TTD at the statutory maximum rate, $700 per week.  (April 18, 1996 Compensation report).


Employee's January 18, 199[6] letter to the Board requested an eligibility for reemployment benefits evaluation.  Employee's request was initially denied for lack of supporting medical documentation.  (January 31, 1996 letter from Reemployment Benefits Administrator D. Saltzman).  


Employee initially treated with his family doctor, Gonzalo Araoz-Fraser, M.D., for neck and mid-back pain.  Eventually Employee came under the care of John Godersky, M.D., who performed surgery and fused  three levels in Employee's cervical spine.  (Dr. Godersky January 11, 1996 operative report).

  
Dr. Godersky determined Employee's neck condition was medically stable on April 8, 1996.  (Dr. Godersky April 8, 1996 report).  Employer commenced payment of PPI benefits.  (April 8, 1996 Compensation report). 


Because of cognitive problems, Employee was referred to Thomas Gordon, M.D., for neurological evaluation and to Paul Craig, Ph.D., for neuropsychological evaluation.  (Dr. Godersky May 8, 1996 report).  Both determined Employee suffered from post-concussion syndrome.  (Dr. Gordon May 23, 1996 report; Dr. Craig May 26, 1996 report). 


In May 31, 1996, Dr. Godersky released Employee to sedentary administrative work.  (Dr. Godersky May 31, 1996 report).  The same day, Employee filed an Application for Adjustment of Claim seeking PTD.  On June 4, 1996, Employer accepted Employee's claim; stopped PPI benefits and commenced payment of PTD benefits.  (October 28, 1997 Compensation report).  
Employee continued to treat with Dr. Fraser for neck and back pain.  Dr. Fraser treated Employee by prescribing pain medication.


On Dr. Fraser's referral, Employee went to the Good Samaritan Rehabilitation Clinic in Puyallup, Washington.  There, Employee came under the primary care of Patrice Stevenson, M.D., a physiatrist.  Dr. Stevenson oversaw Employee's rehabilitation from narcotic use.

Employer stopped PTD benefits and commenced payment of TTD benefits on June 2, 1997.  


On September 5, 1997, Dr. Stevenson found Employee was medically stable from his orthopedic and brain conditions, rated him 41 percent whole person impaired, and released him from the clinic.  Employer reinstated PPI benefits on September 6, 1997.  On October 5, 1997, Dr. Stevenson released Employee for work in eight jobs:  building maintenance repairer (with modifications), office helper, survey worker, telephone solicitor, room service clerk, information clerk (with modification)
, counter attendant (lunchroom or coffee shop), service establishment attendant, and counter attendant (cafeteria).  Dr. Stevenson disapproved Employee's return to work as an automobile repair, maintenance, or general supervisor stating "patient lacks current executive function, attentional and interpersonal skills (dealing with stress) to work in any supervisory capacity."   


When Employee returned to Alaska, he resumed treatment with Dr. Fraser, who reintroduced narcotic prescriptions for treatment of Employee's chronic neck and back pain.  Employee testified at hearing, that payment for his prescriptions was made through the private health insurance plan sponsored by his union.  Employee testified he currently takes 40 mg of synthetic morphine, Oxycontin, three times per day.


Employee was reevaluated by Dr. Stevenson on August 13, 1998.  During the same visit, Laura Dahmer-White, Ph.D., also performed neuropsychological testing.  Dr. Stevensen maintained her position Employee should not be using narcotics for pain management, and could return to work in any of the jobs she had previously approved.  
Employee was determined eligible for reemployment benefits on August 27, 1998.  (August 27, 1998 Letter from RBA Designee M. Andrew).  Employee selected Len Mundorf to prepare a reemployment plan.  (August 31, 1998 Letter from Kalamarides). 


At page two of his October 23, 1998 report, Mundorf stated:  "It appears [Employee] could possibly be risking failure, physical safety, and/or emotional well being in attempting any of these . . . jobs given the stated physical limitations."  Mundorf testified:  "Every one of these jobs, every one of these 17 jobs [referring to the descriptions reviewed by Drs. Stevenson and Fraser] has a least one and either two or three critical job demands that he cannot do."  (Mundorf November 5, 1998 deposition at 13).  Mundorf also found none of the jobs met, or exceeded, remunerative wage as defined under Section 41 of the Act.  (Id. at 10).   Mundorf stated, however, that none of the eight jobs (except perhaps "survey worker") approved by Drs. Stevenson and Fraser  were "odd lot."  (Id. at 32-34).     


Mundorf said he is continuing to search for a vocational goal that would be the basis of a plan.  (Id. at 21).  Mundorf testified that eliminating Employee's use of narcotic medication, and getting him appropriate psycho-therapy would be an important step in the vocational rehabilitation process.  (Id. at 20).  Mundorf said that "unless something happens medically, something happens psychologically" for Employee, identifying a vocational goal will be difficult, but he has not given up.  (Id. at 21-22).     


Dr. Fraser testified by deposition.  He explained why he reintroduced pain medication.  


As you know, . . ., he was not on pain medications, but as the time was going by, he has to -- doing the normal activities he was doing here, he was -- he has -- he was told for him to go to Anchorage to do some counseling, and he has to drive and that was producing significant pain, and from no medication, he was starting going back to have narcotics to control the pain, and at this particular time, he was taking Oxycontin, which is a narcotic -- mild narcotic with long acting.  He was taking 40 milligrams, and because the 40 milligrams was making him to sleepy, we have to decrease that to 20 milligrams.

(Dr. Fraser October 28, 1998 deposition at 18-19). 


Dr. Fraser testified Employee's objective conditions have remained relatively the same over the last year, but that his pain has increased.  (Id. at 20-21).  Employee's increased pain has "in turn generated prescriptions for more pain medication during that year."  (Id. at 22).  


In response to Dr. Stevensen's position that Employee should not be managed with narcotic medications, Dr. Fraser replied:


You know that is one opinion of one person.  You know, . . . there are two ways of management of chronic pain, and Mr. Phillips comes into the category of chronic pain, which is pain which is present more than 6 months.  There is a school of thought in which, like Dr. Stevenson, that they will try to manage these people with physical therapy and other things, and there is another school of thought that will treat these people with chronic narcotics.  And they are based on -- given to them on a contract basis that it has to be only given by one physician and you give them a certain amount every month or every two weeks, and you are sure that they don't abuse them, that they are not -- they aren't selling.  And, you know, I happen to believe the philosophy of the chronic narcotics for chronic pain is more -- a better way for him than the other modalities. 

(Id. at 29-30). 


Dr. Fraser said he had tried to "wean" Employee from narcotic use but "it is very difficult" and "the likelihood [Employee] might be on these medications for an indefinite period of time is pretty high."  (Id. at 30-31).      


Dr. Fraser said Employee can not lift more than 20 pounds, and that he has difficulty holding objects and feeling things with his hands.  (Id. at 36-37).  Additionally, Dr. Fraser testified Employee has cognitive problems which make him more vulnerable to feeling depressed, angry and frustrated.  (Id. at 39-40).      


Dr. Fraser testified he would release Employee to all the jobs, as modified, approved by Dr. Stevenson.  (Id. at 23-24 and 38-39; Exhibit 1).  Dr. Fraser thought returning Employee to work would be in his best medical interest but, it would be difficult to find Employee a suitable job because of his physical and cognitive limitations.  (Id. at 40-41).


Dr. Dahmer-White testified by deposition.  She said "the best thing for [Employee] would be to get back to some sort of employment where he can have a productive thing that he is working in on a daily basis, where he has structure to his life; he can do something to give him a sense of accomplishment and meaning; and something that distracts him from his pain and from his psychological issues."  (Dr. White November 5, 1998 deposition at 2).  


With regard to the testing she performed, Dr. White said Employee's IQ [intelligence quotient] of 85 means he is "better than only 16 percent of the individuals in his age."  (Id. at 35).  Dr. White also said Employee's rating on the "global assessment of functioning" (GAF) scale was only 45 percent.  (Id. at 41-42).  


GAF testing is used to identify a person's ability to function "out there in the real world."  (Id. at 48).  A score of 50 indicates seriously impaired social, educational and occupational functioning: no friends, poor performance in school, and an inability to keep a job.  (Id. at 41).  A score of 40 indicates impaired reality testing and communication.  (Id.).  She said Employee's scores were markedly lower than those from similar, but not identical, tests administered earlier by Dr. Craig.  (Id. at 35 and 39).  


"I think the bulk of his disabilities, and that would refer to his difficulties in keeping a job, comes from the psychological area rather than neurocognitive area, but it certainly in part can reflect the effects of head injury as some of the cognitive difficulties that he has."  (Id. at 42).  Dr. White testified Employee's psychological problems include pre-existing bipolar disorder, depression and alcoholism, all of which make the use of narcotic medication inappropriate for him, and compounds his low performance functioning.  (Id. at 14, 22-23, and 29).  Dr. White testified that when she first worked with Employee in July 1997, he was in manic phase (high mood) but when she retested him in August 1998 he was in a depressed phase.  (Id. at 29).  Dr. White believes Employee has substituted prescription narcotics for alcohol to self medicate his psychological problems.  (Id.).  


Dr. White testified, at length, about the jobs to which Dr. Stevenson released Employee.

  

I have some concerns about [Employee's] ability to return to those positions because of his current psychological status, in particular his current abuse of narcotic medications.  I do not know if -- because he is on those narcotics, if he would be able to complete the job responsibilities.     



When I saw him for the testing, he was very sedated looking in the morning.  I have questions about whether or not that would interfere with his ability to function in the jobs.

. . .



[Employee] completed the CCR program here, which is a program that really helps to address the physical, cognitive and psychological issues related to disability status, particularly from brain injury, and the program and Dr. Stevenson worked very hard for him to go off of the narcotic medications because they felt that it was actually increasing his chronic pain, increasing his cognitive difficulties, as well as his psychological distress.

. . . 



[Employee] showed much better functional capability after he was off those medications, and it's very unfortunate at this point that he has resumed those medications, because I think it has resulted in additional functional decline for him in the neuropsychology testing.   

(Id. at 10-12).


  Dr. White testified that even if Employee were again weaned from his narcotic use, his ability to retain work and function at a higher cognitive level would probably not improve unless it was accomplished in "conjunction with the other treatment," namely, psychotherapy.  (Id. at 46-48).  Dr. White testified Employee needs "lifelong" psychiatric management.  (Id.).  Dr. White testified many head injured people have difficulty "following through" with the methods and procedures taught them for increasing their functional abilities.  (Id. at 48).


In addition to testifying by deposition, Employee also testified in person at hearing.  On the day of the hearing, Employee testified he had taken 40 mg of synthetic morphine, prescribed by Dr. Fraser, at about 5:30 am.  Employee said he takes 40 mg, three times per day.  Employee claims he suffers from seizures, memory lapses, fatigue, and an inability to interrelate with people because of his irritability, anxiety, anger and depression.  


Employee testified he also has trouble sensing the temperature of things with his hands, and handling fragile items, such as drinking glasses.  Additionally, he said he also has to be extremely careful when working with tools, such as a power drill, for fear of injury to his hands without realizing it.  


Employee said he has lost three businesses because of his poor people skills.  Although Employee can find projects, he is incapable of keeping employees because he gets distracted and irritable.  


Employee gave several examples demonstrating his inability to retain information and concentrate.  Employee said he made the decision to give his dog away because he could not properly care for it.  Employee said he often leaves the refrigerator door open, and the stove on.  Employee said he can only concentrate, without interruption, for about 20 minutes, and therefore has difficulty reading or watching videos.

    
Peggy Johnson, Employee's sister, testified by telephone at the hearing.  Johnson sees Employee at least once per day.  She corroborated the symptoms about which Employee testified.  



Johnson testified that before the injury, Employee was a "workaholic."  Now, Johnson testified, he has trouble focusing and remembering where he has placed personal items, such as his keys and a pager, which she purchased to keep track of him.  Johnson said that when Employee is tired or stressed, he appears to have seizures.  Johnson testified that unless simple direct instructions are given to Employee, he is unable to perform even routine tasks.  She said, for example, when Employee goes out to run a quick errand, he may return in "5 hours or 5 minutes" depending on whether he has been distracted.  


Johnson said her brother can relate to someone in a one-on-one situation, but becomes agitated in a group setting.  Johnson testified that when Employee becomes stressed he puts his head down and closes his eyes.  Johnson said Employee "needs time-outs" and "quiet times."   Also, when he is depressed or agitated, Johnson testified, Employee has a difficult time recalling words or otherwise communicating.  For these reasons, Johnson testified, Employee would have a very difficult time performing any of the jobs approved by Drs. Stevenson and Fraser.  Johnson said Employee can only function in a very structured environment.  


Chuck Freese, Employee's friend and former co-worker, testified by telephone at hearing.  Freese said Employee is very "different" from the person he remembers from before the accident.  Before the accident, Employee was very skilled worker.  As a station manager, Employee was responsible for the maintaining all the systems, whether they were electrical, mechanical, or structural.  Freese described Employee as being a "jack of all trades."  By contrast, on one occasion after the accident, Freese said he and Employee were hooking up trailer lights on a personal vehicle, a very simple task.  Freese testified that Employee become frustrated because he was unable to remember how it was done.  Freese testified Employee's memory is so poor, now, he can not recall what he has said during a conversation.  Additionally, Freese said Employee has been so depressed, he has even mentioned suicide.


Dr. Stevenson testified at hearing by telephone.  Dr. Stevenson's specialty is physical medicine and rehabilitation.  She testified Employee's condition is "post acute brain trauma."  Dr. Stevenson said Employee also suffers from "psuedo-seizures" which are not organically caused.  She testified psuedo-seizures are a common behavior pattern among people who have had a brain injury.

  
Dr. Stevenson testified that when Employee was weaned from his use of narcotics for pain, and his anti-seizure medication, he did very well with cognitive therapy.  Additionally, Employee was less "manicy" and more calm when he is off narcotic medications.  She said she strongly recommended Employee not return to the use of narcotics when she discharged him from Good Samaritan.  Dr. Stevenson was not aware of documentation indicating when Employee's narcotic use resumed, or the rationale for Dr. Fraser's decision to manage Employee's pain with such medications.      


Dr. Stevenson testified Employee is capable of handling the tasks of daily living without assistance.  At hearing, she reaffirmed Employee's release to jobs she had previously approved on October 5, 1997.  (See also, Hearing Exhibit 1).  In response to Dr. White's concern about Employee's ability to perform the jobs, Dr. Stevenson testified none of the positions she approved are, in her opinion, dangerous to Employee or others.    


Dr. Stevenson said she did not meet or talk with Employee's family to determine whether he is actually capable of doing the tasks required of the jobs she approved.  Additionally, she testified, she would defer to Dr. White regarding Employee's neuropsychological profile.  Dr. Stevenson testified Employee would be a good candidate for vocational training.

  
In addition to advising that Employee withdraw from narcotic use again, Dr. Stevenson recommended Employee receive psychological counseling, particularly for stress and anger control.  She testified Employee should use his day planner to structure his activities.  Finally, Dr. Stevenson said Employee should become more physically active, in lieu of formal physical therapy.  Dr. Stevenson testified that if Employee returned to Good Samaritan her treatment recommendations could be accomplished within about eight weeks.


Carol Jacobsen, R.N., testified in person at hearing.  She reported on the results of the labor market survey Employer asked her to perform the jobs approved by Drs. Stevenson and Fraser.  Jacobsen's report is attached as Exhibit M to Employer's Brief.  Jacobsen's report and testimony indicate there are viable labor markets, at this time, for the following positions:  telephone solicitor, service-establishment attendant, cashier II, survey worker, office helper, counter attendant.  Jacobsen did not find a viable labor market, at this time, for the position of room service clerk.  Jacobsen did not prepare a labor market survey for "building maintenance repairer, as modified."  Jacobsen testified the average beginning wage for these positions is between eight to twelve dollars per hour. 


Jacobsen said developing a plan which would return Employee to remunerative work within the confines of Section 41 of the Act would be a "challenge."  Jacobsen testified Employee's narcotic use would not necessarily make him unfit for employment in any of the jobs identified.  


FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW            


I.  
Is Employee permanently totally disabled?


AS 23.30.180 provides in part:  



(a)  [P]ermanent total disability is determined in accordance with the facts.  In making this determination the market for the employee's services shall be (1) area of residence; (2) area of last employment; (3) state of residence; and (4) the State of Alaska.



(b)  Failure to achieve remunerative employability as defined in AS 23.30.041(p) does not, by itself, constitute permanent total disability.


First, we review the meaning of the each of the terms encompassing the phrase "permanent total disability." AS 23.30.265(10) defines "disability" as the "incapacity because of injury to earn wages which the employee was receiving at the time of injury in the same or any other employment."  


In Alaska Intern. Constructors v. Kinter, 755 P.2d 1103 (Alaska 1988), the court adopted the definition of "permanent" given by Professor Larsen in his treatise:


Permanent means lasting the rest of claimant's life.  (Cite omitted.).  In addition, a condition that, according to available medical opinion, will not improve during the claimant's lifetime is deemed a permanent one.  If its duration is merely uncertain, it cannot be found to be permanent.

Id. at 1105.


"Total" was defined in J.B. Warrack v. Roan, 418 P.2d 986 (Alaska 1966).  The court stated:

 
For workers compensation purposes total disability does not necessarily mean a state of abject helplessness.  It means the inability because of injuries to perform services other than those which are so limited in quality, dependability or quantity that a reasonably stable market for them does not exist.  (Footnote omitted). . . .  As the Supreme Court of Nebraska has point out, the "odd job" man is a nondescript in the labor market, with whom industry has little patience and rarely hires.  (Footnote omitted).  

Id. at 988.


The Board has also addressed "permanence" from both a physical and vocational aspect in Lau v. Caterair International #616, AWCB Decision No. 95-0053 (February 27, 1995).  In Lau, there was conflicting evidence about the employee's potential for improving her physical capacitates through non-invasive medical treatment, specifically, physical therapy.  The evidence presented by the employer showed Lau had no interest in performing physical therapy, even though three physicians believed she would greatly benefit from such a program.
  The employer argued Lau's condition was not permanent because several doctors indicated she would improve if she chose to undergo proper treatment.  The Board stated:  


We do not find Employer's argument convincing.  A finding of permanence does not require unequivocal concurrence on the part of physicians.  As the court stated in Alaska Intern. Constructors v. Kinter, 755 P.2d 1103, 1105 (Alaska 1988):



The fact that the medical experts offered some cautious comments that [Employee] might someday be able to work in a non-demanding job does not preclude the Board's finding.  In order for a claimant to be permanently totally disabled, he need not establish that there is no chance of him ever doing anything again.


Moreover, the issue is not Employee's physical condition per se but  her ability to compete in the labor market. The concept of disability compensation rests on the premise that the primary consideration is not medical impairment as such, but rather loss of earning capacity related to that impairment. Vetter v. Alaska Workmen's Compensation Board, 524 P.2d 264, 266 (Alaska 1974).  We find no evidence any possible improvement in her physical condition will result in better prospects for employment. 

Lau at 11-12.


The term "oddlot" has also been used by the Supreme Court for the State of Alaska to explain an injured worker's PTD status.  In Hewing v. Peter Keiwit & Sons, 585 P.2d 182, at 187 (Alaska 1978), the court stated, by citation to Justice William Cardozo's opinion in Jordan v. Decorative Co. (cite omitted) that:  "He is the 'odd lot' man, the 'nondescript in the labor market.'  Work if he gets it, is likely to be casual and intermittent. . . . Rebuff, if suffered, might reasonably be ascribed to the narrow opportunities that await the sick and halt. (Footnote and citations omitted).  Additionally, the court advised, when making a determination of PTD  the other factors to be considered "include not only the extent of the injury, but also age, education, employment available in the area for persons with the capabilities in question, and intentions as to employment in the future."  Id. at 185.  

In Lake v. Chugach Electric, AWCB Decision No. 97-200 (October 7, 1997), the Board analyzed the "odd-lot" doctrine and the "other factors" articulated by the Hewing Court in relation to an injured employee who lacked educational (although not intellectual) capacities to compete for readily available positions, given his physical limitations.  Because Lake suffered from intractable pain, treatment for which the employer had controverted, he was unable to meaningfully engage in the vocational reemployment process.  The Board stated:


[W]hen Employee's limited vocational skills are combined with the restriction he not use his dominant arm/hand and the limitations imposed by his untreated debilitating pain, we find Employee lacks the overall capabilities, at this time, to competitively reenter the labor market for the positions identified by Employer as being continuously and readily available.  We conclude Employee is "oddlot," as that term is explained in Hewing, by citation to Justice Cardozo's opinion in Jordan v. Decorative Co. (cite omitted). . . .  Based on our conclusion Employee is odd lot, we conclude Employee is permanently and totally disabled, at this time.

Id. at 10.


In Sulkosky v. Morrison-Knudsen, 919 P.2d 158, 167 (Alaska 1996), the Supreme Court for the State of Alaska synthesized its earlier decisions by pronouncing that an injured worker is permanently and totally disabled if there is not "regularly and continuously available work in the area suited to his capabilities."  
Applying the concept articulated in Sulkosky, the Board recently found an injured worker of very limited intellectual capacity  permanently and totally disabled because of his physical injuries.  Fleming v. Municipality of Anchorage, AWCB Decision No. 98-0226 (September 2, 1998).  The reemployment counselor assigned to Fleming's claim concluded she was unable to prepare a reemployment plan for an identifiable job Fleming could perform, or even be trained to perform, because of his permanent physical, mental, verbal, and reading abilities.  The reemployment file was closed.  In making its determination of PTD status, the Board stated:



[W]e find the employee is an unskilled worker who made his way in life based on a diligent work ethic and back-breaking manual labor.



We find an [in]adequate labor market survey tailored to the employee's actual capacities, and . . . lack [of] wage research or significant employer contacts.  We find the specific . . . positions . . identified are oddlot jobs.  We find [this] evidence is untested and too speculative to accord very much weight.



Based on the medical record, based on the documentary record of the vocational rehabilitation efforts provided for the employee, and based on the testimony of the rehabilitation experts . . . , we find the preponderance of the evidence shows there is no regular and continuous work available which is suited to the employee's capabilities in the American labor market.  We find the employee is "oddlot," as that term is explained in Hewing.


. . . .



We share a concern with the employer that the employee may benefit from additional vocational assistance.  He is a relatively young man, who clearly enjoyed his work.  The Alaska Supreme Court made it clear in Meek, 914 P.2d, at 1278-1279, that PTD benefits do not prohibit additional vocational services, nor are PTD benefits to be interpreted to forestall the possibility of the employee eventually finding remunerative employment.  We commend the employer's resolve to continue to assist the employee in his attempt to return to the work force. 

Id. at 11-12.  


When making a determination under Section 180, in accordance with the authorities cited, we must apply the presumption of compensability under AS 23.30.120(a).  Meek v. Unocal, 914 P.2d 1276, 1279 (Alaska 1996).  23.30.120 provides, in part: "In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that (1) the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter. . . ."  


"[I]n claims based on highly technical medical considerations, medical evidence is often necessary in order to make that connection."  Burgess Construction Co. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 316 (Alaska 1981).  In less complex cases, lay evidence may be sufficiently probative to attach the presumption.  Veco, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 871 (Alaska 1985).  


 If Employee attaches the presumption, Employer must produce substantial evidence the disability is not permanent, or total. See Smallwood, 623 P.2d at 316.  In the case of a PTD claim, Employer must rebut the presumption there is "not 'regularly and continuously available work in the area suited to the [employee's] capabilities,' i.e., that he is not an 'odd lot' worker."  Sulkosky, supra.


Substantial evidence is such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind would accept in light of all the evidence to support a conclusion.  Kessick v. Alyeska Pipeline Serv. Co.,  617 P.2d 755, 757 (Alaska 1980).  "Since the presumption shifts only the burden of production, and not the burden of persuasion, the evidence tending to rebut the presumption should be examined by itself."  Wolfer, 693 P.2d, at 869.


There are two methods of overcoming the presumption of compensability:  (1) presenting affirmative evidence showing that the employee does not suffer a permanent total disability; or (2) eliminating all reasonable possibilities that the disability is permanent, or total.  Grainger v. Alaska Workers' Compensation Board, 805 P.2d 976, 977 (Alaska 1991). 


Once the employer produces substantial rebuttal evidence, the presumption drops out, and the employee must prove all elements of the case by a preponderance of the evidence.  Wolfer, at 870.  "Where one has the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence, he must induce a belief in the minds of the [triers of fact] that the asserted facts are probably true."  Saxton v. Harris, 395 P.2d 71, 72 (Alaska 1964). 
Applying the presumption analysis outlined, we must first determine whether Employee has attached the presumption, that, because of the industrial injury, he permanently lacks the capabilities (physical, mental, and/or vocational) necessary to work in jobs which are regularly and continuously available.  We find Employee has attached the presumption he is permanently and totally disabled because of the work injury by producing a combination of lay and expert witness testimony.  We make this finding as follows.


The parties agree, and we also find, based on the reports of Drs. Godersky and Stevenson, Employee can not return to his job at the time of injury because of physical disabilities arising from the work accident.  Additionally, Employee's co-worker, Freese testified, in his lay opinion, Employee now lacks the cognitive ability to perform the type of tasks associated with his job at time of injury.


Next we consider whether Employee has attached the presumption the jobs approved by Drs. Stevenson and Fraser are not regularly and continuously available or that he permanently lacks the capabilities necessary to perform the jobs.  We also consider whether Employer has rebutted such presumption, if any, with regard to each of these positions.  


We find Employee has attached the presumption the job entitled "survey worker" is not regularly and continuously available with the testimony of his vocational expert Mundorf such job is "oddlot."    We find Employer has also rebutted the presumption with Jacobsen's testimony survey work is regularly and continuously available.  Similarly, we find Employee has attached the presumption there is no viable market, at least in Anchorage, for room service clerk with Jacobsen's testimony.


We find Employee has not produced evidence to attach the presumption the other jobs approved by Drs. Stevensen and Fraser are not readily and continuously available.  In any event, we find, based on the testimony of Mundorf and Jacobsen
, Employer has rebutted whatever presumption may have attached.  


Reviewing the record as a whole, we find all the positions approved by Drs. Stevensen and Fraser are readily and continuously available.  Next we consider whether Employee has rebutted the presumption he has the capabilities to perform the jobs identified as readily and continuously available in the labor market.  


We find he has attached the presumption he lacks the capabilities, at this time, necessary to perform the jobs identified as: building maintenance repairer (as modified), office helper, survey worker, telephone solicitor, room service clerk, information clerk (with modification)
, counter attendant (lunchroom or coffee shop), service establishment attendant, and counter attendant (cafeteria) because of his industrial injury.  We make this finding based on the following testimony.


Mundorf, Employee's vocational expert, testified Employee can not do "at least one and either two or three critical job demands" in each of the positions identified.  Additionally, based on Dr. White's testing, we find  Employee's global assessment functioning score indicates Employee would have difficulty holding a job.  Finally, Dr. White testified that while most of Employee's vocational difficulties stem from his psychological problems, some of Employee's cognitive difficulties "reflect the effects of [his] head injury. . . ."  (Dr. White dep. at 41-42).

  
We also find, based on Dr. White's testimony, Employee's psychological problems (bipolar disorder, depression and alcohol abuse) preexisted the work accident.
  We find, based on Dr. Stevenson and Dr. White's testimony Employee's narcotics use compounds and aggravates the symptoms of Employee's preexisting psychological problems.  We also find, based on Drs. Stevensen and Whites' opinions, Employee's narcotic use diminishes his cognitive abilities, for example, his ability to concentrate and focus when performing even simple tasks.  Furthermore, Dr. Stevensen testified that although Employee's "psuedo-seizures" when stressed are not organically based, they are a common behavioral trait among head injury patients.  


We find the expert vocational opinion expressed by Mundorf, and the medical/psychological opinions expressed by Drs. Stevenson and White, are consistent with the observations made by the lay witnesses and Employee himself.  Freese corroborated the expert testimony Employee now lacks cognitive ability to engage in an extended conversation.  Employee's sister, Johnson, testified at length that Employee cannot perform simple tasks because he lacks the ability to concentrate.  Johnson said Employee can not use his hands; he drops things and lacks temperature and pressure sensitivity.  Additionally, Employee testified he is at risk for injury when using tools because he lacks sensation in his hands.  Both Johnson  and Freese testified that when Employee becomes stressed (for example when he is around more than one person or when he is frustrated by his inability to perform a task) he either becomes agitated, angry and has trouble communicating, or simply closes his eyes and puts his head down.  


Given Employee's cognitive, psychological and physical functioning, we find Employee can not perform the critical tasks of any job identified.  We find the jobs identified will require extensive interaction with other people, the intellectual ability to compile data, and/or the use of Employee's hands; none of which, we find, he can perform adequately.          


We find Employee's cognitive problems, which Dr. White said are in part from the head injury, and his preexisting psychological disorders are aggravated by the sedative effect of the narcotics prescribed by Dr. Fraser to manage Employee's chronic physical pain.  We find, based on Dr. Fraser's testimony, such treatment regime is an accepted medical practice for chronic pain.  We also find, based on Dr. Fraser's testimony, Employee has attached the presumption his need for narcotic medication to manage chronic neck pain is permanent.      


We find Employer has rebutted the presumption Employee is permanently and totally disabled with substantial evidence.  We make this finding based on Jacobsen's expert testimony Employee is able, even in his current physical, mental and emotional condition, to perform the work identified.  We find this is substantial evidence, which when viewed in isolation, rebuts the presumption that Employee's disability is total.  Additionally, based on Mundorf's testimony, we find the treatment method recommended by Drs. Stevensen and White (non-narcotic pain management, in combination with psychological counseling) might allow Employee to function at a higher vocational level.  We find this evidence, whether viewed in isolation or in combination with Jacobsen's testimony, rebuts the presumption Employee's current condition and disability is either permanent or total.


Having found Employee might function better and have greater success with his vocational efforts if he followed the treatment regime recommended by Drs. Stevenson and White, we next consider whether Employee has fulfilled his obligation to mitigate his damages.  We find the medical evidence in this claim is equivocal, as it was in Lau.   Unlike the Board in Lau, however, we find the treatment recommended could possibly allow Employee greater vocational success.  (In Lau, the Board determined that even with physical therapy, the employee would still be unemployable.  Lau at 11-12.).  Unlike Lau, however, Employee has actually received the treatment recommended.  We find, unfortunately, Employee was not able to successfully implement the practices learned at Good Samaritan.  


We find Employee made a good faith, yet unsuccessful, effort to mitigate his damages by attempting to improve his physical and cognitive abilities.  First, based on Dr. Stevensen's testimony, we find Employee cooperated fully at Good Samaritan.  We also find, based on Dr. Whites' testimony, Employee underwent the Good Samaritan program in 1997, when he was in the non-depressed stage of his bipolar disorder.  (Dr. White dep. at  29).  


We find once Employee left the structured environment of Good Samaritan, and returned to his home in Kenai, Alaska, he had difficulty implementing and adhering to the discharge recommendations made by Dr. Stevensen for reasons beyond his control.  We find Employee attempted psychological counseling with a practitioner in Anchorage.  Based on Dr. Fraser's testimony, we find Employee's drive between his home in Kenai and Anchorage, caused Employee increased neck pain, for which Dr. Fraser prescribed narcotics.  


We find, based on Dr. White's testimony, Employee's untreated preexisting psychological disorders further undermined the discharge recommendations made by Dr. Stevensen.  Finally, we find the change in Employee's personal and social life, a divorce and the loss of his home as a consequence, compounded the existing difficulties Employee faced when attempting to abide by Dr. Stevensen's discharge recommendations.  


Therefore, we find, based on the record as a whole, Employee made a good faith effort to mitigate his damages.  Accordingly, we find the medical aspect of Employee's disability is permanent, despite the possibility his cognitive and psychological conditions might improve.


We now consider whether the vocational aspect of Employee's disability is permanent.  Although Mundorf testified that he continues to search for an appropriate vocation goal for plan development, we find his testimony is insufficient to rebut the presumption Employee's disability is vocationally permanent.  We find Mundorf's testimony is, at best, mere speculation about the possibility of identifying an appropriate vocational goal.  Even if such evidence was sufficient to rebut the presumption, reviewing the record as a whole, we find Employee has also proved his disability is vocationally permanent by a preponderance of the evidence.  


II.
How should past benefits paid to Employee be characterized?


According the June 25, 1998 prehearing conference summary, Employee seeks "recharacterization of PPI benefits paid from April 8 through June 4, 1996" to TTD and a determination Employee was PTD from September 6, 1997 and continuing.  Based on the facts, authorities and analysis set forth above, we find Employee has been permanently totally disabled during all times since his industrial accident, except those periods when he was not medically stable.  AS 23.30. 265 (21) states, in part: "'medical stability' means the date after which further objectively measurable improvement from the effects of the compensable injury is not reasonably expected to result from additional medical care or the passage of time; . . . ."  


We find Employer paid PPI benefits from April 8, 1996 through June 4, 1996 and from September 5, 1997 and continuing.  We find that at all other times, Employer paid either TTD or PTD.  
Based on our review of the medical reports made by Drs. Fraser, Gordon and Craig, we find Employee has attached the presumption he was not medically stable from April 8, 1996 through June 4, 1996.  We find, based on Dr. Godersky's April 8, 1996 report, Employer has rebutted the presumption Employee was not medically stable with substantial evidence.  Reviewing the record as a whole, however, we find Employee has proved he was not medically stable by a preponderance of the evidence.  We make this finding based on Dr. Godersky's report which states Employee was medically stable only with regard to his neck condition; while the reports by Drs. Fraser, Gordon and Craig all indicate Employee had ongoing cognitive problems for which he was seeking medical evaluation and attention.  We conclude Employee should have been paid TTD, rather than PPI benefits, from April 8 through June 4, 1996 because he was not medical stable.


 We find, based on Dr. Stevensen's reports and testimony, Employee attained medical stability on September 4, 1997, when Employee was discharged from Good Samaritan with a permanent partial impairment rating of 41 percent.  Because we have determined Employee has been permanently totally disabled during all times since his industrial accident, except those periods when he was not medically stable, we conclude Employer should have been paid PTD, rather than PPI, benefits from September 4, 1997 and continuing.      


III.  To what benefits is Employee entitled?


According to the prehearing conference summary, Employee also seeks PPI benefits for a 41 percent rating and vocational reemployment services. 


Based a review of our file, we find nothing to indicate Employer disputes the 41 percent rating rendered by Dr. Stevensen.  However, an injured worker may not receive both PPI and PTD benefits.  AS 23.30.180.  Therefore, we defer any decision to award Employee PPI benefits until such time, if ever, his PTD status changes.



We find Employee has requested reemployment benefits.  Despite our determination Employee is PTD, we find Employee could benefit from additional vocational assistance.
  A determination of permanent and total disability does not preclude provision of vocational services.  Fleming at 12.  Finally, Employee has an ongoing duty to cooperate with the reemployment process.  AS 23.30.041(n).  


Therefore, we order Mundorf complete a vocational plan within the confines of Section 41 of the Act which would return Employee to regularly and continuously available work, suited to his capabilities, at the highest wage attainable.
  If, like the reemployment specialist in Fleming, Mundorf is unable identify a vocational goal into which Employee can be trained, he should advise the Reemployment Benefits Administrator accordingly.


III.  Attorney Fees and Costs.



AS 23.30.145 provides:



(a)
Fees for legal services rendered in respect to a claim are not valid unless approved by the board, and the fees may not be less than 25 per cent on the first $1,000 of compensation or part of the first $1,000 of compensation, and 10 per cent of all sums in excess of $1,000 of compensation.  When the board advises that a claim has been controverted, in whole or in part, the board may direct that the fees for legal services be paid by the employer or carrier in addition to compensation awarded; the fees may be allowed only on the amount of compensation controverted and awarded.  . . . In determining the amount of fees the board shall take into consideration the nature, length and complexity of the services performed, transportation charges, and the benefits resulting from the services to the compensation beneficiaries.



(b)  If an employer fails to file timely notice of con​troversy or fails to pay compensation or medical and related benefits within 15 days after it becomes due or otherwise resists the payment of compensation or medi​cal and related benefits and if the claimant has em​ployed an attorney in the successful prosecution of his claim, the board shall make an award to reimburse the claimant for his costs in the proceedings, includ​ing a reasonable attorney fee. The award is in add​ition to the compensa​tion or medical and related bene​fits ordered.  


Employee's attorney filed an affidavit and an itemization of the hours he expended, the extent and character of the work he performed, and his hourly billing rate.  Based on such affidavit and itemization, Employee asks that we award actual attorney fees in the amount of $10,920.00, and legal costs (including paralegal charges) of $11,663.83.  We also consider whether to award a fee for the additional time Kalamarides spent at the hearing, approximately 4 hours, at his usual rate, $200.00 per hour. 


We find Employee prevailed in his request for an award of PTD benefits.  We find that while Employer did not controvert Employee's PTD claim, the characterization of benefits paid after September 4, 1997 was tantamount to resistance.  Alaska Interstate v. Houston, 586 P.2d 618,620 (Alaska 1978).  We find Employee's attorney provided legal services; developed evidence to support Employee's claims; aggressively pursued the claims, and prevailed.

  
Based on Kalamarides' affidavit we find the time spent for the services provided was reasonable.  We find, as we have found in the past, Kalamarides' hourly rate, $200.00, is reasonable given his extensive experience litigating workers' compensation claims and the contingent nature of his representation.  Wise Mechanical v. Bignell, 718 P.2d 971, 973 (Alaska 1986).  Under subsection 145(b), therefore, we award Employee attorneys fees of $10,920.00 for time spent before hearing based on Kalamarides' Affidavit of Fees, and $800 for time spent at hearing, for a total of $11,720.00 in attorney fees, provided as follows.


An attorney's fee award under AS 23.30.145(b) may not be less than the amount as calculated under subsection 145(a) on the compensation benef​its awarded.  In this case, the total amount of Employee's PTD benefits are not a sum-certain, at this time.  Therefore, we will award Employee his actual attorney fees under AS 23.30.145(b), $11,720.00, as calculated above, to be credited against the fee due under AS 23.30.145(a) should it exceed the fee awarded under subsection 145(b).  If attorney's fees under subsection 145(a) exceed the attorney's fees we have awarded under subsection 145(b), the employer shall also pay these fees, as they become due.  Accordingly, we will award Employee his actual attorney fees, $11,720.00, in a lump-sum amount now and order Employer to make periodic payments if, and when, the statutory fee under subsection 145(a) exceeds his actual fee under subsection 145(b).  



We have also reviewed Employee's cost bill and find all the costs itemized are necessary and reasonable and therefore allowable under 8 AAC 45.180(f).  Accordingly, we will order Employer to pay Employee $11,663.83 for legal costs. 


ORDER

1.
Employee is permanently totally disabled.


2.
Employer shall recharacterize permanent partial impairment benefits paid from April 8 through June 4, 1996 as temporary total disability benefits.


3.
Employer shall recharacterize permanent partial impairment benefits paid from September 5, 1997 and continuing as permanent total disability benefits.


4.
Vocational Rehabilitation Specialist Len Mundorf shall complete a vocational plan within the confines of Section 41 of the Act which would return Employee to regularly and continuously available work, suited to his capabilities, at the highest wage attainable, even if it is not remunerative as defined under AS 23.30.041(p)(7).  If, like the reemployment specialist in Fleming, Mundorf is unable identify a vocational goal into which Employee can be trained, he should advise the Reemployment Benefits Administrator accordingly.


5.  We reserve jurisdiction to determine Employee's entitlement to permanent partial impairment benefits until such time, if ever, Employee's PTD status changes.  


6.
Employer shall pay Employee's attorney $11,720.00 in attorney fees and $11,663.83 in legal costs, at this time; and shall make periodic payments if, an when, the statutory fee under subsection 145(a) exceeds his actual fee under subsection 145(b), in accordance with this decision and order. 


Dated at Anchorage, Alaska this _________________ day of _________________, 1999.



ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD



___________________________________



Rhonda L. Reinhold, Chairman



___________________________________



John A. Abshire, Member



___________________________________



S. T. Hagedorn, Member


If compensation is payable under terms of this decision, it is due on the date of issue and penalty of 25 percent will accrue if not paid within 14 days of the due date unless an interlocutory order staying payment is obtained in Superior Court.


APPEAL PROCEDURES

This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.


Proceedings to appeal must be instituted in Superior Court within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board, as provided in the Rules of Appellate Procedure of the State of Alaska.


RECONSIDERATION

A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.


MODIFICATION

Within one year after the rejection of a claim or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200 or 23.30.215 a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050.  


CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Final Decision and Order in the matter of Chris Phillips, employee / applicant; v. PMC/FRONTEC, employer; and Industrial Indemnity / FREMONT, insurer / defendants; Case No. 9523969; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers' Compensation Board in Anchorage, Alaska, this _____________ day of _________________, 1999.

                             _________________________________

                             Sierra D. McKeever, Clerk

�








     �Employer disputes Employee's claim for PTD.  Employer has paid TTD from November 1, 1995 through April 7, 1996; PPI from April 8, 1996 through June 4, 1996; PTD from June 5, 1996 through June 1, 1997; TTD from June 2 through September 5, 1997, and PPI from September 6, 1997 and continuing.


     �Dr. Stevenson commented that "depending on the complexity of organization he may not have adequate mental flexibility to do this job successfully."   


     �The Board determined Lau lacked sufficient communication skills (she was born and educated in Peru) to compete in a sedentary job market.  Therefore, unless Lau's physical abilities improved the likelihood of suitable employment within her capacities was slight. 


     �The Lake panel did not address the issue of whether remunerative wage under Section 41 of the Act is a component of PTD.  At footnote 7, the panel advised it could not reach a consensus because one member believed the ability to make a remunerative wage should be incorporated under a determination of PTD; another believed it should not; and the third member did not think the issue was ripe, given that Lake was unable to complete his vocational rehabilitation because of untreated pain.  Id. at 10.


     �Although Jacobsen did not do a report on the availability of building maintenance repairer (as modified), Mundorf testified all the other jobs were not "odd-lot."


     �Again, Dr. Stevenson commented that "depending on the complexity of organization he may not have adequate mental flexibility to do this job successfully."   


     �Employee's job at time of injury was, in our opinion, unique and very well suited to Employee.  Employee enjoyed a solitary work experience on remote air bases.  His former job was well suited to his psychological make-up because it required little to no interaction with other people. 


     �If Employee attempts further treatment at Good Samaritan, we trust Employer would offer to assist Employee by arranging psychological support after Employee's discharge, including medical management by a psychiatrist, located in a venue closer to Employee's home.    


     �Although we have determined Employee made a good faith effort, albeit unsuccessfully, to comply with Dr. Stevenson's discharge recommendation, we nevertheless encourage Employee to return to Good Samaritan to increase the likelihood of  his vocational success.


     �Until Mundorf completes the Employee's proposed plan, we defer a determination on whether failure to meet remunerative wage, if any, may be the basis of a determination for permanent total disability under AS 23.30.180. 





